FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
12/21/2022 2:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101561-5

## SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82800-2

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### PREMERA BLUE CROSS,

Petitioner,

v.

P.E.L., P.L & J.L.,

Respondents.

### PREMERA BLUE CROSS'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

GWENDOLYN C. PAYTON
WSBA No. 26752
JOHN R. NEELEMAN
WSBA No. 19752
KILPATRICK TOWNSEND &
STOCKTON LLP
1420 Fifth Avenue, Suite 3700
Seattle, Washington 98101
(206) 467-9600
gpayton@kilpatricktownsend.com
jneeleman@kilpatricktownsend.com

ADAM H. CHARNES

Admitted Pro Hac Vice

KILPATRICK TOWNSEND &

#### STOCKTON LLP

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION BELOW

Petitioner Premera Blue Cross respectfully asks this Court to accept review of Division One's published decision dated November 21, 2022 (the "Decision"). The Decision reversed the Superior Court's summary judgment dismissing the Respondents' Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act ("the Federal Parity Act") and insurance bad faith claims. (App. A.)

#### II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Where Congress explicitly withheld a private cause of action for violation of a federal statute, may Washington courts allow a plaintiff to bring an action for violation of that statute as a breach of contract claim?
- 2. Can an insurance policyholder maintain an insurance bad faith claim for emotional distress damages where the policyholder fails to offer any evidence of objective symptomatology of emotional distress?

#### III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Factual background.

1. The Contract covers residential treatment centers for mental health and excludes wilderness programs or activities.

In 2016, Respondents purchased Premera's Blue Cross Preferred Gold 1000 Plan (the "Contract") through the Washington Health Benefit Exchange. CP 1528 ¶ 1; CP 1531 ¶ 12. The Contract provides reimbursement for a wide range of medical, surgical, and mental health services. CP 1592. The Contract covers residential treatment centers, partial hospitalization, and intensive outpatient services for mental health care. CP 1602-1604. The Contract covers skilled nursing facilities and rehabilitation hospitals for medical/surgical care. CP 1605-1606.

The Contract "does not cover: ... [o]utward bound, wilderness, camping or tall ship programs or activities" (the "Wilderness Exclusion"). CP 1603-1604. It also does not cover

"[g]ym or swim therapy," "[e]xercise or maintenance-level programs," or "[r]ecreational ... therapy." CP 1606.

For both mental health and medical/surgical services, the Contract covers only treatments by providers who are licensed to practice medicine. CP 1602-1603. To be covered, all programs must have the appropriate license to provide to provide the service at issue. CP 1614.

#### The Contract states that Premera

will comply with the federal health care reform law, called the Affordable Care Act .... If Congress, federal or state regulators, or the courts make further changes or clarifications regarding the Affordable Care Act and its implementing regulations, including changes which become effective on the beginning of the calendar year, this plan will comply with them even if they are not stated in this booklet or if they conflict with statements made in this booklet.

CP 8.

Premera files all contracts with the Office of the Insurance Commissioner ("OIC") for review and approval before they can be sold. RCW 48.44.020(2). The OIC will not approve any

contract that violates the laws. RCW 48.44.020(2), (3); see McCarthy Fin., Inc. v. Premera, 182 Wn.2d 936, 941 (2015). The OIC approved the Contract containing the Wilderness Exclusion. CP 1945-1971.

# 2. P.E.L. attended the Evoke Wilderness Program, a licensed "child care agency."

In April 2016, P.E.L. attended the Evoke Wilderness Program in Bend, Oregon. CP 1672. Respondents picked Evoke because an educational consultant recommended it. CP 1672-1673.

Evoke does not have a medical license from the Oregon Health Authority, the state agency that licenses medical and mental health providers. The Oregon Health Authority issues a license for "residential treatment facilit[ies]," which treat "individuals with mental, emotional or behavioral disturbances or alcohol or drug dependence" and provide "residential care and treatment in one or more buildings on contiguous properties." O.R.S. § 443.400(4)(b), .400(11), .410(2). Oregon requires this

license to operate a Residential Treatment Center. O.A.R. 309-022-0160. Evoke did not have this license.

Instead, Evoke was licensed by the Oregon Department of Human Services as an "Outdoor Youth Program" and "Child Caring Agency." CP 1690. Evoke had a "Certificate of Approval to Operate a Child Care Agency," which states that the "type of childcare" it is "authorized to provide" is an "outdoor youth program." O.R.S. § 418.205(7).

Evoke calls itself an "outdoor program" and a "Wilderness Program." CP 1694; CP 1696-1697; CP 1701. Evoke requires a minimum residential stay of 42 days, with extensions in "sevenday increments." CP 1696; CP 1703.

3. Premera found that P.E.L.'s stay at Evoke was not covered under the Contract, and an independent psychiatrist agreed.

Respondents sought coverage for P.E.L.'s nine-week stay at Evoke. However, Premera denied coverage under the Wilderness Exclusion. CP 1531 ¶¶ 11-15; CP 1842-1844; CP 1900-1902. Respondents pursued an internal appeal, arguing

that the Wilderness Exclusion violated the Federal Parity Act and therefore the Affordable Care Act ("ACA").<sup>1</sup> CP 1910-1915. Premera denied the appeal, writing that the Contract complies with the Federal Parity Act. CP 1919.

Review Organization ("IRO") selected by the OIC pursuant to Washington law. CP 1927-31. The IRO reviewer was a board-certified psychiatrist in adult and child psychiatry and was "chief of a hospital mental department of over 200 individuals." CP 1937. The IRO upheld Premera's denial because the Contract excludes wilderness programs. The IRO explained that the Contract covers residential treatment but "Wilderness programs are different enough in structure and care delivery process to be considered different than other residential treatment programs." CP 1934; CP 1936.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The ACA incorporated the Federal Parity Act. *See* 42 U.S.C. § 300gg-26.

#### B. Procedural background.

Respondents sued Premera for (1) breach of insurance contract; (2) breach of the duty of good faith and fair dealing; (3) violation of the Washington Consumer Protection Act, and (4) negligent claims management. CP 5-6 ¶¶ 16-31; see CP 32 ¶¶ 33-37. All claims were premised on allegations that Premera violated the Federal Parity Act or the Washington Parity Act. Respondents did not assert a separate cause of action under either Parity Act but alleged that Premera breached the Contract because the Contract states that Premera will comply with ACA. See id.; App. A at 6.

The trial court granted Premera summary judgment, denied Respondents' motion for summary judgment, and dismissed all of Respondents' claims. RP 127:3-133:19; CP 2952. The court concluded that the Federal Parity Act does not provide Respondents a private cause of action,<sup>2</sup> and that

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> The trial court explained that Congress provided a cause of action to members of ERISA plans, but Respondent's plan is not subject to ERISA. *Id*.

Respondents could not create a cause of action by alleging that Premera breached the Contract by violating the Federal Parity Act. RP 131:11-132:24. The court also concluded that, in any event, Premera excluded similar types of programs for both medical/surgical and mental health care. *Id.* Therefore, there was no showing that coverage for medical-surgical and mental health services were not in parity. *Id.* Finally, the court also concluded that Premera did not violate the Washington Parity Act because the statute expressly excludes these types of programs from its scope. *Id.* 

Respondents appealed. In a published opinion (App. A), Division One rejected Respondents' argument that Premera breached the Contract by violating the Washington Parity Act. However, the Court of Appeals reversed the trial court's dismissal of the breach of contract allegation premised on the claim that Premera violated the Federal Parity Act. App. A at 6-7. The Court of Appeals concluded that "[b]ecause Premera promised to follow the ACA under the terms of the Plan, P.E.L.

can assert a common-law breach of contract claim to enforce that promise." *Id.* at 7. The Court of Appeals also concluded that an issue of fact precluded summary judgment in favor of Premera on Respondents' breach of contract claim because "a reasonable juror could conclude that the wilderness exclusion applies to only wilderness mental health services," and not medical/surgical services as well. *Id.* at 22-23. Finally, the Court of Appeals held that "[t]he trial court erred by dismissing P.E.L.'s bad faith insurance claim for failure to show objective symptomology of emotional distress." *Id.* at 26.

### IV. REASONS THE COURT SHOULD GRANT THE PETITION

This petition raises issues that have not been, but should be, resolved in Washington. First, in addressing whether an alleged ACA violation can be framed as a breach of contract claim, the Court of Appeals disagreed with the overwhelming majority of courts nationwide that have considered this issue. Second, there are conflicting opinions among Washington appellate courts on whether an insurance bad faith claim for

emotional distress damages requires evidence of objective symptomatology.

A. This Court should review the Court of Appeals' decision that Respondents can assert a violation of the Federal Parity Act through a breach of contract claim, when Congress expressly declined to provide a cause of action. (RAP 13.4(b)(1), (2), (3), (4)).

While Washington courts recognize that a statute may create an implied private cause of action, courts cannot imply a private cause of action where the legislature has expressly withheld one. "If the statute itself does not display an intent to create a private remedy, then a cause of action does not exist and courts may not create one, no matter how desirable that might be as a policy matter, or how compatible with the statute." Ziglar v. Abbasi, 137 S. Ct. 1843, 1856 (2017) (internal quotation marks and brackets omitted); see also Keodalah v. Allstate Ins. Co., 194 Wn.2d 339, 347-48 (2019) (holding that no claim against insurance adjusters exists under the Insurance Fair Conduct Act because the legislature's omission of a provision creating a private cause of action against adjusters was intentional). This is because "the separation-of-powers doctrine requires that a branch not impair another in the performance of its constitutional duties." Ziglar, 137 S. Ct. at 1861; see also, Hangman Ridge Training Stables, Inc. v. Safeco Title Ins. Co., 105 Wn. 2d 778 (1986) (the legislature, not the court, is the appropriate body to establish what conduct constitutes per se unfair trade practices under the Washington Consumer Protection Act.).

The Court of Appeals erred because the ACA—which incorporates the Federal Parity Act—does not provide Respondents a private cause of action. This Court should establish that, where Congress has withheld a private cause of action, Washington courts may not create one by allowing a claim alleging violation of the statute at issue recast as a breach of contract claim. Indeed, all contracts at least impliedly incorporate the governing law. The Court of Appeals' holding creates a loophole that defeats Congress's intent every time it declines to create a cause of action.

### 1. The ACA does not provide Respondents a cause of action.

Courts have repeatedly held that neither the Federal Parity Act nor the ACA provides a private cause of action. A.Z. ex rel. E.Z. v. Regence Blueshield, 333 F. Supp. 3d 1069, 1083 (W.D. Wash. 2018) (the ACA "does not create a private right of action" for violations of the Parity Act); Mills v. Bluecross Blueshield of Tenn., No. 3:15-cv-552-PLR-HBG, 2017 WL 78488, at \*6 (E.D. Tenn. Jan. 9, 2017) ("[T]here is no private right of action to enforce [the Federal Parity Act] itself."); N.Y. State Psychiatric Ass'n, v. UnitedHealth Grp., 980 F. Supp. 2d 527, 544 (S.D.N.Y. 2013) ("Like the Parity Act, the ACA does not provide for any independent private right of action to enforce its provisions"), aff'd in part, vacated in part on other grounds, 798 F.3d 125 (2d Cir. 2015).

"Like substantive federal law itself, private rights of action to enforce federal law must be created by Congress." *Alexander v. Sandoval*, 532 U.S. 275, 286 (2001). "Without evidence of a congressional intent to create both a private right and a private

remedy, a private right of action 'does not exist and courts may not create one, no matter how desirable that might be as a policy matter, or how compatible with the statute." *UFCW Local 1500 Pension Fund v. Mayer*, 895 F.3d 695, 699 (9th Cir. 2018) (quoting *Alexander*, 532 U.S. at 286-87).

Thus, "[c]ustomers of individual plans cannot sue to enforce the Affordable Care Act or [the Parity Act]." *Mills*, 2017 WL 78488, at \*6. They cannot sue alleging the violation of "the requirement that plans offered on exchanges follow the [Parity Act]." *Id.* "Likewise, there is no private right of action to enforce the [Parity Act] itself. It does not contain an enforcement provision." *Id.* 

2. Respondents cannot pursue a Federal Parity Act claim through a state law breach of contract action because this would subvert Congress's intent and is contrary to the public interest.

Contrary to the Court of Appeals' decision, numerous courts have held that plaintiffs may not allege violations of a statute withholding a private cause of action, including the Federal Parity Act, through a state-law breach of contract claim.

These cases hold, as the Second Circuit has explained, that when "no private right of action exists under the relevant statute, the plaintiffs' efforts to bring their claims as state common-law claims are clearly an impermissible 'end run' around the [statute]." Grochowski v. Phoenix Constr., 318 F.3d 80, 86 (2d Cir. 2003). Many other cases agree. See, e.g., Hard2Find Accessories, Inc. v. Amazon.com, 691 F. App'x 406, 408 (9th Cir. 2017) (holding that a statute that provides no private right of action "cannot serve as the predicate offense for [Washington Consumer Protection Act] claim"); Umland v. PLANCO Fin Servs., 542 F.3d 59, 66-67 (3d Cir. 2008) (holding that plaintiff could not bring common-law contract claim where the alleged contractual term only alleged violations of the Federal Insurance Contributions Act, which did not provide a private right of action); Indemnified Capital Invests. v. R.J. O'Brien & Assocs., 12 F.3d 1406, 1412 (7th Cir. 1993) (rejecting a state law claim for breach of fiduciary duty based on violation of National Futures Association rule, which does not provide an independent

right of action); Doe v. Vanderbilt Univ., No. 3:18-cv-00569, 2019 WL 4748310, at \*18 (M.D. Tenn. Sept. 30, 2019) ("Plaintiff cannot circumvent the lack of a Clery Act private right of action by re-characterizing the cause of action as a state law negligence per se claim."); Fossen v. Caring For Montanans, *Inc.*, 993 F. Supp. 2d 1254, 1265-66 (D. Mont. 2014) ("Plaintiffs" breach of contract claim is merely another backdoor method of presenting an alleged violation of a statute that they have no right to enforce."), aff'd, 617 F. App'x 737 (9th Cir. 2015); Acevado v. Citibank, No. 10 Civ. 8030(PGG), 2012 WL 996902, at \*10 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 23, 2012) ("Because Plaintiffs' breach of contract claim 'relies entirely on incorporating the requirements of a statute with no private right of action [for damages] ..., Plaintiffs' claim ... is precisely the form of "artful pleading" ... that state courts have identified as making an impermissible end run around statutes with no private right of action.") (citation omitted); Shrem v. Sw. Airlines Co., No. 15-CV-04567-HSG, 2017 WL 1478624, at \*2 (N.D. Cal. Apr. 25, 2017), aff'd, 747 F.

App'x 629 (9th Cir. 2019) ("Because the statute does not allow a private cause of action, '[p]laintiffs' breach of contract claim would thus create an end run around the implied right of action doctrine, permitting a private right of action based on violations of 14 C.F.R. §§ 253.4, 253.5, and 253.7 where there is none."").

The Court of Appeals itself recognized that its decision contradicted numerous federal courts. *See* App. A at 7 n.8. But it disregarded these cases and instead relied on only one case that clearly does not apply here.

According to the Court of Appeals, *Briscoe v. Health Care Service Corp.*, 281 F. Supp. 3d 725 (N.D. Ill. 2017), stands for the rule that "[g]iven the absence of any indication that Congress intended the ACA to preempt breach of contract claims,' courts should permit plaintiffs to pursue claims to enforce a promise to comply with the ACA under the terms of a health plan." App. A at 7 (quoting *Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp. 3d at 739).

But *Briscoe* does not support this conclusion. First, *Briscoe* involved an ERISA-governed health plan, not, as here,

an individual health plan offered on the exchange pursuant to the ACA. This is a critical difference overlooked by the Court of Appeals. ERISA explicitly provided ERISA plan members with a private right of action under the Federal Parity Act, but Congress expressly declined to do so for ACA plans. Am. Psychiatric Ass'n v. Anthem Health Plans, 50 F. Supp. 3d 157, 161 (D. Conn. 2014) ("Although there is no private right of action under the Parity Act, portions of the law are incorporated into ERISA and may be enforced using the civil enforcement provisions in ERISA § 502, to the extent they apply."), aff'd, 821 F.3d 352 (2d Cir. 2016). Thus, Briscoe is irrelevant because Congress had granted the ERISA plan member plaintiffs in that case a private cause of action for violation of the Federal Parity Act.

Second, the language quoted by the Court of Appeals from *Briscoe* involved a different issue—whether the ERISA plaintiffs could allege a breach of contract claim based only on the plan terms *in addition to* a claim alleging violation of the ACA. *See* 

*Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp. 3d at 739-40 ("[T]aking as true Magierski's allegations that Defendants *violated her plan documents* by refusing to cover the full cost of lactation services, this Court finds that Magierski states a plausible claim for breach of contract.") (emphasis added). In *Briscoe*, the plaintiffs alleged that the plan contract provided coverage for lactation counseling separate from any requirement of federal law, and that the plan's denial conflicted with that plan language. *Id.* at 739. The court held that the plaintiffs could allege the breach of contract claim in addition to a violation of the Federal Parity Act. *Id.* at 739-40.

Here, there is no dispute that the Contract excludes wilderness programs. Respondents do not claim that Premera breached any express term of the Contract that provided coverage for wilderness programs. Instead, they claim that the Contract itself does not comply with the Parity Act because it excludes wilderness programs. Thus, Respondents do not assert a breach of contract claim beyond claiming that Premera violated its statement that it complies with applicable laws. Courts

emphasize this distinction. In *York v. Wellmark*, No. 4:16-cv-00627-RGE-CFB, 2017 WL 11261026 (S.D. Iowa Sept. 6, 2017), *aff'd*, 965 F.3d 633 (8th Cir. 2020), the court held that plaintiffs may not allege a breach of contract claim based on an alleged ACA violation just because the contract says it will comply with the statute. *Id.* at \*19. But the court allowed the plaintiffs to allege a breach of contract claim contending that the plan had denied coverage for a specific treatment the plan promised to cover. *Id.* at \*20.

In *York*, the contract explicitly stated that it covered lactation counseling, which is also required by the ACA. *Id.* The court held that plaintiffs could sue under state law alleging that the plan breached the contract when it refused to provide lactation counseling promised in the plan: "Thus, assuming Wellmark's health plan expressly guarantees York lactation counseling benefits in accordance with the ACA and provides a contractual remedy, the Court finds Plaintiffs state a plausible claim for breach of contract under state law." *Id.* 

But the court held that the plaintiffs could not sue for violation of the ACA if the plan omitted the required benefit: "Individual parties cannot enforce violations of a federal law with no private cause of action by simply casting their claim in the language of a breach of contract or other state common law claim." Id. at \*19 (citing Palmer v. Ill. Farmers Ins., 666 F.3d 1081, 1086 (8th Cir. 2012) ("[i]n the absence of ... [contractual language] specifying an independent right to the [relief] they seek," a plaintiff cannot use "claims for breach of [contract] to circumvent ... administrative remedies and create a private right of action when the legislature has not")); MM&S Fin., Inc. v. Nat'l Ass'n of Sec. Dealers, 364 F.3d 908, 911 (8th Cir. 2004) (plaintiff could not "avoid Congress's decision not to provide an express right of action and pursue instead a common-law breach of contract claim.").

This case is not about a benefit "expressly guaranteed" under the Contract and also required by the ACA. It is about a benefit that was *excluded* from the Contract and that

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