FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2/2/2023 12:53 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101561-5

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

No. 82800-2 COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

P.E.L., a minor, and P.L. and J.L., a married couple and guardians of P.E.L.,

Plaintiffs-Respondents,

v.

PREMERA BLUE CROSS, a Washington health carrier,

Defendant-Petitioner.

RESPONDENTS' ANSWER TO PREMERA BLUE CROSS'S PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. PREMERA'S PETITION DOES NOT DEMONSTRATE ANY RAP 13.4 FACTORS.

Under RAP 13.4, review by the Court is only accepted if the appellate decision conflicts with a decision of another Washington appellate court; if it raises a significant question under the state or federal constitutions; or if it involves an issue of substantial public interest. None of these factors are present.

1. Insureds May Enforce Premera's Promise to Comply with the ACA Parity Requirements.

The Opinion properly concluded that insureds may bring a breach of contract claim to enforce their coverage rights, even when those rights are modified by the ACA. Opinion at 7. This is not a close call. The Opinion is consistent with the requirements of the Premera contract, Washington statute and caselaw.

First, the Premera contract expressly incorporates the ACA's requirements, including its Parity provisions as a supervening contractual requirement:

If Congress, federal or state regulators or the courts make further changes or clarifications regarding the Affordable Care Act and its implementing regulations, ... this plan will comply with them even if they are not stated in this booklet or if they conflict with statements made in this booklet.

CP 85 (emphasis added). Compliance with the ACA is part of the express bargain between Plaintiffs and Premera. When Premera ignored the parity requirements, it breached this contractual provision.

Second, the ACA requirements and related OIC regulations are incorporated into Premera's contract by state statute. See RCW 48.18.510; Durant v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co., 191 Wn.2d 1, 11 (2018).

Third, state and federal caselaw holds that governing insurance law is incorporated into an insurance contract's terms, excising conflicting terms. *UNUM Life Ins. v. Ward*, 526 U.S. 358, 376–77, 119 S. Ct. 1380 (1999); *Durant*, 191 Wn.2d at 11; *Liberty Mut. Ins. Co. v. Tripp*, 144 Wn.2d 1, 12 (2001); *Kyrkos v. State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co.*, 121 Wn.2d 669, 671 (1993).

Premera promised Plaintiffs a specific benefit, residential treatment for mental health conditions, that would comply with the ACA parity laws even if compliance conflicted with the literal terms of the plan. Consistent with that promise, Premera may not apply a separate categorical exclusion of a type of residential treatment only to mental health benefits. See 42 U.S.C. §300gg-26(a)(3)(A)(ii). This is properly a breach of contract claim. See Condry v. UnitedHealth Grp., Inc., No. 17cv-00183-VC, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 130089, at *9 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 15, 2017) (Plaintiff "is not trying to create a private right of action under the Affordable Care Act but rather to enforce her own rights in contract and quasi-contract"); see e.g., Heston v. *Int'l Med. Grp.*, 528 F. Supp. 3d 963, 976 (S.D. Ind. 2021).

Unable to locate a conflict within Washington cases, Premera argues that the Opinion conflicts with *out-of-jurisdiction* federal decisions. Pet. at 13–16. Conflicts with non-Washington decisions do not justify review under RAP 13.4. Premera cites to a California case for the proposition that the

Court should grant review even where there is no in-state conflict. *See* Pet. at 22, *citing Etcheverry v. Tri-Ag Serv., Inc.,* 993 P.2d 366, 367 (Cal. 2000).² RAP 13.4, however, does not allow for review based upon factors other than those specifically listed. *See id.*

Premera's "conflict" is also manufactured. Only one of Premera's cases involves breach of insurance contract claims and the Affordable Care Act.³ See Pet. at 13–16 (cases relate to the Fair Labor Standards Act, Federal Insurance Contributions Act,

² In *Etcheverry*, *eight federal appellate courts* had ruled differently from the California appellate court. *Id.*, 993 P.2d at 368. Here, "[w]here lower federal precedents are divided or lacking, state courts must necessarily make an independent determination of federal law." *Id*.

³ Even the two cases cited in the Opinion do not involve either the ACA or insurance. *See* Opinion, p. 7, n. 8. Premera's sole case addressing whether breach of contract claims may incorporate the ACA's requirements, *Marlena Mills v. BlueCross Blueshield of Tenn., Inc.,* 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 2730, at *15 (E.D. Tenn. Jan. 9, 2017), does not address the McCarran Ferguson Act and was wrongly decided. *Id.* In any event, a single federal district court case decided differently from the Opinion is hardly "settled federal law." Pet. at 22.

Montana's "little HIPAA" statute, New York's Exempt Income Protection Act, and the Airline Deregulation Act, among others). At most, Premera's cases conclude that, apart from insurance, when Congress does not create a private cause of action, the relevant federal law cannot be enforced via a state law breach of contract claim. *See e.g.*, Pet. at 14. But under the McCarran Ferguson Act ("MFA"), 15 U.S.C. §1101, *et seq.*, different rules apply to insurance.

With the MFA, "silence on the part of Congress shall *not* be construed to impose any barrier to the regulation or taxation of [insurance] by the several states." 15 U.S.C. §1011 (emphasis added); *see also* 15 U.S.C. §1012. Consistent with that directive, the federal courts in *Briscoe* and *York* concluded that "the ACA does not preempt consumers' traditional ability to vindicate their rights under the insurance laws of their state." *Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp. 3d at 739; *York*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 199888, at *57. Such breach of insurance contract claims may be pursued, even when they rest on violations of the ACA. *Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp.

3d at 739. The Court of Appeals concluded that the reasoning in *Briscoe* is correct. Opinion at 7.

This makes sense when considering the federal Parity requirements. As Premera conceded, Congress placed the federal Parity Act within ERISA so that insureds who receive their coverage through private employment may enforce the Parity requirements pursuant to ERISA's statutory causes of action. *See* CP 2616; 29 U.S.C. §1132(a).

With the ACA, Congress mandated that exchange plans comply with the Federal Parity Act. 42 U.S.C. §18031(j). No evidence suggests that Congress intended to leave consumers who purchased their health coverage on state exchanges with fewer rights than those with employer-based coverage, as claimed by Premera. *See* CP 1558. Rather, courts concluded that the MFA allows exchange consumers to enforce the terms of their insurance contracts, as modified by the ACA's Parity requirements, as traditional state law claims. *Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp. 3d at 739; *York*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 199888, at *57;

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 179159, at *5 (D. Kan. Oct. 30, 2017). Premera had no response to the argument regarding the MFA before the appellate court and fails to address it in its Petition.

Instead, Premera argues that *Briscoe* involved only ERISA plans. Pet. at 16. Not true – *Briscoe* involved *both* ERISA and non-ERISA enrollees in Blue Cross Blue Shield of Illinois. *See Briscoe*, 281 F. Supp. 3d at 729 (one plaintiff was "insured by a plan she bought directly through BCBSIL"); *Briscoe v. Health Care Serv. Corp.*, 2020 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 9447, at *5 (N.D. Ill. Jan. 21, 2020) (*Briscoe* plaintiffs moved to certify ERISA and non-ERISA classes).

Premera tries to distinguish *Briscoe* and *York* by asserting that the plans in those cases affirmatively covered the disputed benefit, separate from federal law requirements, such that the denial of coverage was a breach of the contract. Pet. at 18–21. Premera argues that here there is no "wilderness benefit" in the contract that is not being applied, wholly ignoring that the benefit

sought by Plaintiffs is coverage for residential mental health treatment. *Id.* Residential mental health coverage is the "independent right" Plaintiffs seek to enforce.⁴ *See York*, 2017 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 199888, at *56.

B. INSURANCE BAD FAITH CLAIMS MAY BE PURSUED WITHOUT EVIDENCE OF OBJECTIVE SYMPTOMOLOGY.

Premera also appeals the Court of Appeals' determination that Plaintiffs' insurance bad faith claim may be pursued even without evidence of objective symptomology. Pet. at 33. Premera urges the Supreme Court to "clarify" this issue but fails

⁴Tangentially, Premera claims that the Opinion rejected another "line of settled federal authority" when it concluded that an issue of fact exists regarding whether the Premera contract violated the Parity requirements. Pet. at 31. The three federal district court decisions that Premera cites are outliers. *See id.* Most courts hold that a specific exclusion applicable only to mental health benefits facially violates the federal Parity law. *See Danny P. v. Catholic Health Initiatives*, 891 F.3d 1155, 1158 (9th Cir. 2018); *N.R. v. Raytheon Co.*, 24 F.4th 740, 747 (1st Cir. 2022); *Gallagher v. Empire Health Choice Assurance, Inc.*, 339 F. Supp. 3d 248, 258 (S.D.N.Y. 2018); *A.Z. v. Regence Blueshield*, 333 F. Supp. 3d 1069, 1081 (W.D. Wash. 2018); *Vorpahl v. Harvard Pilgrim Health Ins. Co.*, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 121316 (D. Mass. July 20, 2018); *A.F. v. Providence Health Plan*, 35 F. Supp. 3d 1298, 1315 (D. Or. 2014).

to identify any actual conflict between the Opinion and any decision by Washington appellate courts or with the state or federal constitutions. Premera merely points to *Dombrosky v. Farmers Ins. Co.*, 84 Wn. App. 245, 262 (1996), as the source of "confusion" (not conflict). Pet. at 25. But, as the Opinion properly concluded, "*Dombrosky* involved a claim for NIED [negligent infliction of emotional distress]" rather than a claim for insurance bad faith. *See* Opinion at 25.

The Opinion properly found that "Washington courts have not required expert testimony to support claims for emotional damages outside of the general breach standard in negligence claims." *Id.; see e.g., Woo*, 161 Wn.2d at 70; *Coventry v. Am. States Ins. Co.*, 136 Wn.2d 269, 284 (1998); *Anderson v. State Farm Mut. Ins. Co.*, 101 Wn. App. 323, 333 (2000). That is the Opinion's limited holding, which does not conflict with Washington appellate caselaw.

Nor should this issue be addressed due to "public policy." See Pet. at 28. *First,* the mere existence of a "public policy"

question without more is insufficient under RAP 13.4. And *second*, while Premera claims that the "issue ... recurs frequently," it offers no example. The Court should deny Premera's Petition as wholly failing to meet the requirements under RAP 13.4.

C. IF PREMERA'S PETITION IS ACCEPTED, THE COURT SHOULD CONSIDER ADDITIONAL ISSUES, PURSUANT TO RAP 13.4

Should the Court accept either issue for review (and it should not), it should also consider the following issues of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court:

1. Premera's Policy Facially Violated the ACA's Parity Requirements.

The Court of Appeals erred when it concluded that issues of material fact prevent adjudication as to whether Premera's contract violates the ACA's parity requirements on its face. Opinion at 21–23. Violations of the Parity law can be either facial or applied. *See* 42 U.S.C. §300gg-26(a)(3)(A)(ii); *N.R. v.*

Raytheon Co., 24 F.4th 740, 747 (1st Cir. 2022); A.Z. v. Regence Blueshield, 333 F. Supp. 3d 1069, 1081 (W.D. Wash. 2018).

The appellate court did not analyze whether the Exclusion, on the face of the contract, violated the Parity law. Opinion at 21–22.

This is a pure question of law. By its terms, Premera's wilderness exclusion is a separate treatment limitation applicable only to mental health benefits:

The Mental Health, Behavioral Health and Substance Abuse benefit does not cover:

. . .

Outward bound, *wilderness*, camping, or tall ship programs or activities.

CP 111–12 (emphasis added). The term "wilderness" appears nowhere else in the contract.

Separate exclusions that facially apply only to mental health benefits are illegal. *Danny P.*, 891 F.3d at 1158; *Doe v. United Behavioral Health*, 523 F. Supp. 3d 1119, 1128 (N.D. Cal. 2021). This is true for separate wilderness exclusions that

are facially applicable only to mental health benefits. *See Michael D. v. Anthem Health Plan of Ky. Inc.*, 369 F. Supp. 3d 1159, 1175 (D. Utah 2019); *Vorpahl*, 2018 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 121316, at *10; *Gallagher*, 339 F. Supp. 3d at 258. If this appeal is taken up by the Court, it should conclude that the Exclusion is a separate exclusion imposed only on mental health benefits, in violation of the Parity law, 42 U.S.C. §300gg-26(a)(3)(A)(ii).

2. Premera Violated WAC 284-43-7080(2) When It Administered its Wilderness Exclusion.

The appellate court erred when it concluded that Premera did not violate WAC 284-43-7080(2) (which prohibits the application of categorical exclusions to mental health services without a determination of medical necessity) when it administered the Exclusion without considering medical necessity. Opinion at 11–13. While the appellate court does not invalidate the rule, it asserts that the rule improperly "altered" the state statutory definition of "mental health services" to apply to residential services and that Plaintiffs failed to offer citation to

support the "alteration." *Id.* at 12. This conclusion ignores that the regulation properly interprets both the state and federal parity laws *in pari materia*, providing full effect to both, without any alteration of state statute.

The regulation implements the federal parity requirements and the state parity law. WAC 284-43-7000. As written, WAC 284-43-7080(2) does not "override" the state Parity requirements. If the regulation and the state statue may "logically stand side by side and be held valid" there is no "alteration." *See O.S.T. v. Regence BlueShield*, 181 Wn.2d 691, 702 (2014).

When the Washington legislature established the State Parity Act in 2006, it set a floor for coverage that did not include residential treatment. *See id.* Later, when Congress passed the ACA, it raised the coverage requirements from that floor to include "residential treatment." *See id.* at 702–703; 42 U.S.C. §300gg-26(a)(3)(A)(ii). WAC 284-43-7080(2), issued in 2014, properly recognized that the "floor" was raised by the ACA. *See*

e.g., Unitedhealthcare of N.Y., Inc. v. Lacewell, 967 F.3d 82, 92 (2d Cir. 2020) (courts must first attempt to reconcile state law and ACA requirements).

The regulation does not alter state statute. The State Parity Act and the ACA stand *in pari materia*, and must "be read together as constituting a unified whole ... which maintains the integrity of the respective statutes." *Hallauer v. Spectrum Properties, Inc.*, 143 Wn.2d 126, 146 (2001); *see e.g., DTH Media Corp. v. Folt*, 841 S.E.2d 251, 262 (2020) (applying federal and state statutes *in pari materia*). That is exactly what the rule accomplishes.

Premera could have complied with state **and** federal parity requirements by simply following WAC 284-43-7080(2). *First*, it must comply with the State Parity Act by covering all "services provided to treat mental disorders" when medically necessary, except those services that were expressly excluded under state law, such as residential mental health treatment. *See* RCW 48.44.341(1), (2). *Second*, it must also comply with the

Federal Parity Act and ACA requirements by ensuring that there is no "separate treatment limitation" applicable only to mental health benefits even when the service in question is residential treatment. 42 U.S.C. §300gg-26(a)(3)(A)(ii).

3. A Reasonable Jury Could Find That Premera Violated the ACA's Parity Law When It Failed to Conduct a Formal Medical Necessity Review or Parity Act Analysis of Wilderness programs.

The Court of Appeals erred when it concluded that there were no issues of material fact regarding whether Premera complied with the federal Parity Act's requirement that "in operation" the "processes, strategies, evidentiary standards or other factors used" to apply the Wilderness treatment "are comparable to and applied no more stringently than the processes, strategies, evidentiary standard or other factors" applied to medical/surgical benefits. Opinion at 16–21. A reasonable jury could easily conclude that Premera violated this provision of the Parity law based upon the following undisputed facts:

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